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___________________________________)


On August 24, 31, and September 1, 1995 we met at Anchorage, Alaska to hear Employee's claim. Employee was present and represented himself.  Defendants are represented by attorney James Hutchins.  The record remained open until September 13, 1995, for the parties to file written closing arguments.  The claim was ready for decision when we first met thereafter on September 19, 1995.


SUMMARY OF THE CASE

We briefly summarize the history of this case which began over 13 years ago. The parties have engaged in extensive litigation; we will not refer to all the previous decisions or the evidence even though we have considered it.


On July 22, 1982, Employee, who was then a 57 year-old  pipe fitter working for Employer, struck his forehead on one fork of a stationary forklift.  Employee stated he was stunned by the impact and fell to the ground for approximately 30 seconds.  He did notlose consciousness.  He finished his work shift, approximately three hours, despite a headache and feeling cold.  That evening he had chills, dizziness, and a severe headache.  The next morning, he was unsteady on his feet and was evacuated to a hospital in Barrow, Alaska.  Apparently x-rays, which were taken and sent to Seattle, Washington, for interpretation, were unremarkable.  He was directed to return to his home in Anchorage, Alaska and rest until he was able to return to work.


Defendants accepted Employee's injury as compensable.  Defendants paid temporary total disability (TTD) benefits for a period of time.


At the time of the injury, Employee was a member of the United Association of Journeymen and Apprentices of Plumbers and Pipe Fitting Industry (Plumbers).  In computing his average weekly wage (AWW), Defendants used his 1981 earnings, his most favorable year's earnings of the three years before injury.  The parties agree he worked a total of 873.3 hours and earned $22,264.52 in 1981.


Employee seeks an adjustment in his AWW and the resulting compensation rate to include all employer contributions to various union funds established pursuant to collective bargaining agreements, as well as employer-provided room and board.  Employee seeks room and board for the 31 days he worked for H.C. Price between July 15, 1981 and August 14, 1981.  (Appeal Record at 819.) 
After the Alaska Supreme Court filed Ragland v. Morrison-Knudsen Co., Inc., 724 P.2d 519 (Alaska 1986), Defendants initially controverted adjusting Employee's AWW contending he had not presented evidence that he was entitled to such an adjustment.  (Controversion Notice dated December 6, 1986).  Later, Defendants withdrew the controversion and adjusted Employee’s AWW to include some employer contributions to union funds. Defendants did not include the employers’ contributions to the apprentice training fund.  The parties agree the contribution was $.28 per hour for work performed under the Anchorage Plumbers’ union contract, and $.35 per hour for work performed under the Fairbanks Plumbers’ union contract.  Of the 873.3 hours worked in 1981, the parties agree 539.5 hours were worked out of the Anchorage union, and 333.8 hours were worked out of the Fairbanks union.


Defendants also did not include the employers’ contributions to the industry promotion fund under the Anchorage Plumbers’ union contract.  This contribution was $.05 per hour worked.  Defendants did not include the employers’ contributions to the contract administration fund under the Fairbanks Plumbers’ contract.  The hourly contribution was $.15.  


Defendants submitted the testimony of Michael Cooper that these contributions were not negotiated in the same way as other contributions, nor voted on by union members.  The parties also filed copies of each of the Plumbers’ contracts.


Employee also asks that his AWW be adjusted to include unemployment benefits he received from the State of Alaska, Department of Labor, Division of Employment in 1981.  The parties stipulated he was paid $3,974.00 in that year.  (April 17, 1995 Stipulation of Facts). 


The Board previously determined Employee’s injury caused a compensable disability from the date of injury to at least July 31, 1986.  In its July 31, 1986 Decision and Order, the Board reviewed Employee's medical treatment to that date.  Metcalf v. Felec Services, Inc., (Metcalf II),  AWCB No. 8700176 (July 31, 1986).  Regarding the compensability of Employee's injury, the Board held:


The Board finds that Dr. Coons' believed the applicant was predisposed to developing a disability.  He testified he believed the applicant likely would have become disabled within six months without the July 1982 injury.  This predisposition was the result of depression and stress. The Board finds, based on Dr. Coons' testimony that the July 1982 physical injury "triggered" symptoms which, due to the applicant's predisposition, resulted in the current disability.  The Board finds the physical injury, which also imposed additional stress on the applicant, was a substantial factor in bringing about his current disability.  "But for" the July 1982 physical injury, the applicant would not have had the symptoms upon which he focused his other problems.  We find the applicant's work-related injury combined with his pre-existent psychological and emotional disorders to cause the current disability.  We find therefore, that the applicant's current disability is compensable.

(Id. at 8).


Although the Board found the Employee's injury caused a compensable disability from July 22, 1982 to July 31, 1986, the Board did not award compensation.  Defendants had stopped Employee's TTD benefits on January 6, 1983, and controverted his claim.  Defendants had two reasons for the controversion. One reason was that Employee's continuing medical problems were not related to the July 1982 injury.  As the quote above reflects, the Board rejected this contention.


The other reason for stopping benefits was Employee's refusal of medical care.  The Board reviewed AS 23.30.095(d) and the evidence.  The Board concluded Employee had unreasonably refused medical care, and affirmed Defendants' termination of benefits on January 6, 1983.   The Board ruled that if Employee conscientiously followed "a reasonable medical regimen prescribed by a neurologist of his choice (including CAT scans if still necessary), the employer shall begin to pay the compensation which we have found the applicant entitled to receive. . . ."  (Id. at 12.)


Employee appealed the Board's ruling.  Defendants did not appeal or cross-appeal the Board's ruling regarding the compensability of Employee's disability.


On appeal the supreme court affirmed the Board's finding that Employee had unreasonably refused medical treatment.  However, the court reversed and remanded the portion of the order which, in essence, ratified Defendants' suspension of the employee's compensation without first obtaining a Board order authorizing the suspension.  Metcalf v. Felec Services, 784 P.2d 1386 (Alaska 1990).  The court remanded  with the following instructions:


[I]f Felec can demonstrate that some of the delay in the issuance of the Board's order is attributable to unreasonable conduct by Metcalf, the Board may in its discretion offset the reinstatement of Metcalf's benefits if and to the extent Felec can show he unreasonably [fomented] decisional delay.

784 P.2d at 1391.


On remand the Board found Employee unreasonably fomented some delay; the Board approved Defendants' offsetting 91 days of the benefits awarded from January 6, 1983 through July 30, 1986.  The Board also awarded interest at the rate of 10.5 percent per year.  The Board awarded minimum statutory attorney's fees on the compensation awarded.  Metcalf v. Felec Services, Inc.,  (Metcalf IV) AWCB Decision No.  91-0032 (Feb. 1, 1991).       


On February 8, 1991, Defendants paid $45,273.00 in TTD benefits (through July 30, 1986), and interest of $29,606.00.  No benefits have been paid since that time.  Employee appealed Metcalf IV.  The superior and supreme courts affirmed the decision.  Metcalf v. Felec Services, 3 AN-91-1707 CI (February 25, 1992); aff'd Memo. Op. & Judgement No. 0662 (Alaska April 21, 1993).


Since 1991 we have dealt with numerous procedural matters and requests for modification/reconsideration by Employee.  However, this is the first time since February 1991 that we have held a hearing about the merits of the claim.


Employee contends he is permanently and totally disabled (PTD) due to his 1982 injury.  Defendants contend his disability is not work-related.  They presented the report and testimony of Stephen Raffle, M.D., a psychiatrist, that Employee's injury was not a substantial contributor to the development of his conversion disorder which is manifested by headaches and dyssomnia.  Dr. Raffle testified Employee had a short period of disability due to the injury, probably no more than five weeks in length.  Since then, his disability is the result of his pre-existing condition.


Dr. Raffle found no evidence of malingering.  He believes Employee has not cooperated with medical treatment as he refused to take antidepressants, although Dr. Raffle doubted antidepressants would help him.  Dr. Raffle clarified this testimony at hearing.  He believes if Employee had taken a usual course of antidepressants, the physician would have tried other drugs when the antidepressants did not help him.  In the course of this trial of drugs, Dr. Raffle believes the treating physician would have eventually tried Anafranil, a drug that would help Employee with his obsessive-compulsive behavior.  Dr. Raffle testified that, given his condition, Employee could work for short periods of time without handicap.


Employee testified at the hearing he has had a newspaper delivery route for approximately the last 12 years.  He has rarely missed a day of delivering papers.  He usually spends one hour and 15 minutes per day delivering papers.  On Sundays he spends two hours delivering papers.  This job pays about $200.00 a month job.  
Employee testified in his 1987 deposition that he gets headaches if he stays up more than two hours at a time.  (Metcalf Dep. at 9).  In a 24-hour period, he cannot stay up longer than six hours.  (Id.)   At the hearing, he affirmed this testimony was still true today.  Both Dr. Raffle and Robert Fu, M.D., testified they do not believe he sleeps 18 hours a day as he claims.


Employee testified at the hearing that he is not seeing any physician for treatment of his headaches.  He contends that since Defendants won't pay the charges for treatment by Bruce Johnstone, M.D., a psychiatrist, he has not sought any treatment.


Employee testified at the hearing that he has two small gardens in which he grows lettuce, beans, kale, and a six-foot row of peas.  He tills the soil himself; he plants the seeds, fertilizes, weeds and harvests the produce.  He cuts the grass in his front yard.  He testified at the hearing that he does his own laundry, housecleaning, bill paying, and some maintenance work on his house.  He does some car repair as well as changing the oil, tires and sparkplugs.  In the winter he shovels the walk and has two snow blowers to remove the snow from a short driveway.  He does his own shopping and cooking.  He indicated at the hearing that food preparation, eating his meals, and cleaning up, takes him about three hours per day.  Employee testified he likes to read, and goes to the library frequently.  He visits his friends and family.  On Sundays, he goes to church services which takes at least an hour.  He has taken some classes at Anchorage Community College, usually taking a class which requires more mental work, like psychology or typing, along with a course that involves exercise, such as weight lifting or swimming.


In addition to his activities listed above, Employee has spent time in our offices in conjunction with litigating his claim.  He has prepared a substantial amount of paperwork which he has filed with us.  Employee is also involved in a dispute with the Social Security Administration (SSA).  He is representing himself in that case as well, and he does the paperwork associated with his case.


Defendants presented the report and testimony of Jill Friedman.  She interviewed Employee on November 13, 1994.  Employee told her that for over 12 years he has maintained his strict cycle of not working more than two hours, and then resting for one-half hour to several hours, for a total of 18 hours of rest per day.  


Considering his age, education, experience and training together with his physical limitations, Friedman concluded Employee should keep his job with the newspaper, which pays $219.00 a month or $51.00 per week.  She believes he should apply for a job with the Anchorage School District as a noon duty/crossing guard attendant.  These jobs are readily and continuously available, require only two hours of work at noon, and pay $8.00 an hour or $80.00 per week.  This would bring Employee's earnings to about $130.00 per week.  Alternately, or in addition to this work, he could work at other places which do not discriminate based on age.  For example, he would work as a greeter at a Wal-Mart Store part-time, and earn $7.00 per hour.  Using the definition in AS 23.30.041(c) of suitable, gainful employment in effect at the time of injury, this would mean he was not eligible for retraining.


Defendants have a third reason for asserting Employee is not entitled to PTD benefits.  Defendants contend Employee has not cooperated with medical care.  They cite the Board's July 1986 decision which said Employee must follow the treatment regime prescribed by a neurologist of his choice.  


In his deposition, Employee testified he submitted two reports from Janice Kastella, M.D., a neurologist, to show that he is complying with the Board's order.  He submitted the September 10, 1986 and October 15, 1986 chart notes.  Employee testified that she told him, and the reports stated that "drugs aren't likely to do me any good."  (Metcalf Dep. at 20 and Exhibit A-5).


On November 10, 1986, the Board's office received a copy of Employee's brief filed in Superior Court in connection with his appeal of the July 1986 Decision and Order.  Attached to that brief were Dr. Kastella's chart notes of September 9 and October 15, 1986.  The September 9, 1986 chart note responds to Employee's  September 9, 1986 letter, and is a total of five paragraphs.


Defendants deposed Dr. Kastella on April 27, 1987.  They copied the chart notes in her records.  Her chart note for September 9, 1986, did not match the chart note submitted by Employee to the Board on November 10, 1986.  (Kastella Dep., Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 3.)  Dr. Kastella testified the copy of the chart note submitted to the Board was missing two paragraphs in which she discussed medication for Employee.  Her file contained a copy of the altered version of her September 9, 1986 chart note.  Dr. Kastella testified that her staff would have no reason to delete the two paragraphs
.  Dr. Kastella was asked:  


A.  Would it be your assumption then that Mr. Metcalf did provide the altered document?


Q.
Oh, I suspect that when we were talking about the medication he preferred not to have that particular part in my report.

(Kastella Dep. at 13.)


In cross-examining Dr. Kastella, Employee inferred one of Dr. Kastella's secretary had deleted the two paragraphs.  


Dr. Kastella testified she has not urged Employee to take medication.  She testified: "Even when people would be significantly improved by medications it is very difficult to force them to take medication . . . .  In general, I think it is up to patients to take medication and to make that decision basically for themselves.  (Id. at 16 - 17.)  Employee explained during Dr. Kastella's deposition that he wanted her to suggest a medication, and then he wanted to check the prescription with Dr. Johnstone.


In addition to deciding whether Employee is PTD, we must also decide whether Employee is entitled to past and future medical care at Defendants' expense, and whether his digestive problems are related to his injury. 


Employee also contends Defendants did not properly compute the offset for his receipt of benefits from the SSA.  The parties agreed in the April 17, 1995 Stipulation of Facts that the SSA determined Employee was eligible to receive SSA benefits as of January 1, 1983, at the initial rate of $602.50 per month.  They also stipulated these benefits were paid for the same injury for which Employee seeks benefits under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act (Act) in this claim.


Employee contends Defendants did not properly compute the amount due under Metcalf II, and that he is due additional compensation (a penalty) for various benefits and interest, as well as interest upon interest.  Finally, Employee requests attorney's fees for services performed by attorneys who have previously represented him as well as for his own work before us.  


FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.  Is Employee Permanently and Totally Disabled?


AS 23.30.120 provides:


In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that


(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.


Once the presumption has arisen, it is necessary for Defendants to present substantial evidence to overcome the presumption.  Once the Defendants produce substantial evidence to the contrary, the presumption drops out and the burden of proving all elements of the claim falls on the injured worker.  Bailey v. Litwin Corp., 713 P.2d 249, 252 (Alaska 1985). 


Defendants' first argue Employee suffered only a brief period of disability after the compensable injury, and his present problems are the result of his pre-existing condition.  Dr. Raffle testified at length regarding the effect of the injury, and the brief period of disability from the injury.  We find this argument was raised at the hearing which resulted in Metcalf II.  In that decision, the Board concluded the injury combined with the pre-existing condition to produce a compensable disability starting from the date of injury and lasting to at least July 31, 1986.  Defendants did not appeal that determination nor have they sought modification; we find we cannot modify the Board's previous decision.  See AS 23.30.130.  


Some of Dr. Raffle's testimony goes to an issue already decided by the Board, i.e., the length of disability after the injury.  We disregard that portion of Dr. Raffle's testimony.  It is presumed that Employee's continued disability, if any, after 1986 is related to his compensable injury.  Baker v. Reed-Dowd Co., 836 P.2d 916 (Alaska 1992); See Olson v. AIC/Martin, J.V., 818 P.2d 669 (Alaska 1991).  Dr. Raffle's testimony did not offer evidence that events occurring after the Board's July 1986 decision and order were causing Employee's current disability.  We conclude Defendants did not overcome the presumption that Employee’s disability after July 1986 is work related.  If Employee is PTD after July 1986, the disability is presumed to be work related. 


Next we consider Defendants' argument that Employee has not cooperated with medical treatment as ordered by the Board in Metcalf II.  We find the evidence supports Defendants' position.


In order for Employee to receive compensation, the Board ordered in Metcalf II that he "conscientiously follow a reasonable medical regimen prescribed by the neurologist of his choice. . . ."  We find Employee did not follow the regimen prescribed by the neurologist.  Dr. Kastella discussed medication with Employee and recommended he take medication.  Employee was unwilling to take any medication without first having Dr. Johnstone review the prescription. However, the Board did not authorize a psychiatrist’s review of the neurologist’s treatment regime.  We find Employee did not comply with the Board’s order in Metcalf II.  


We find not only was Employee unwilling to take a prescription without Dr. Johnstone's review, but he also either directed the deletion of a portion of his medical records or personally deleted a portion of the records before submitting them to the Board and Defendants.  Whether the records deletion was done by him or at his direction makes little difference.  


In his brief filed June 19, 1995, Employee stated at page 3:  “I made an appointment with my choice of neurologists, Dr. Kastella as soon as I could after the above DECISION AND ORDER.  In my appointments with Dr. Kastella after July 31, 1986 she would not prescribe a drug for me or even suggest a drug for me.”  (Emphasis added.)  We find this assertion is contrary to Dr. Kastella’s opinion as evidenced both by the deleted portion of her medical records quoted in footnote 1 above and her deposition testimony.  We find Employee attempted to lead us to believe Dr. Kastella did not think medication would help; in fact, she suggested and recommended medication and believed it would help his condition.   
We find Employee's actions in directing the deletion, or deleting himself, a portion of Dr. Kastella’s medical records and in representing that she had not suggested medication, reflects upon his credibility.  We find Employee is not a credible witness.  We accord little weight to his testimony regarding his condition.  AS 23.30.122.


We find Employee did not comply with the Board's July 1986 order as  he was unwilling to follow his neurologist medical regime without a psychiatrist’s review. Dr. Raffle testified that if Employee had followed the recommendations to try antidepressants, his physician would have eventually tried Anafranil which would be helpful in alleviating or lessening his disability. Under AS 23.30.095(d) we find the continued suspension of compensation is appropriate.  


Even if we had not suspended benefits under AS 23.30.095(d), we would still deny Employee's claim for PTD benefits.  We would find Defendants have overcome the presumption of compensability with the testimony of Dr. Raffle and Friedman.  Weighing all the evidence, we would find Employee failed to prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


We found Employee is not a credible witness, and give his testimony little weight. Like Dr. Fu and Dr. Raffle, we do not believe he sleeps 18 hours a day.  Given the things he admits to doing and the work he has performed in connection with this claim, we find he could work for more than six hours in day if he wanted.


Based on Friedman's testimony and even using Employee’s self-imposed limited employment schedule, we find work is readily and continuously available which is within his capacity.  Accordingly, he is not entitled to PTD benefits.  See Summerville v. Denali Center, 811 P.2d 1047 (Alaska 1991). Although his wages from working part-time do not equal his AWW at the time of his injury, we find that he is not PTD.

II.
IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO MEDICAL CARE AT DEFENDANTS’ EXPENSE? 


AS 23.30.095(a) provides in part:


The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment . . .  for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board. The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recover may require.


AS 23.30.095(c) provides in part:


No claim for medical or surgical treatment is valid and enforceable as against the employer, unless, within 20 days following the first treatment and following the times set by the board for notice of subsequent treatments, the physician giving the treatment or the employee receiving it furnishes to the employer and the board notice of the injury and treatment, preferably on a form prescribed by the board. 


Effective May 28, 1993, the Board adopted 8 AAC 45.082.  It provides in part:  "A provider who renders medical or dental services under the Act shall file with the board and the employer a substantially complete form 07-6102 within 20 days after each treatment or service."


Employee seeks payment for treatment by William Risch, D.C.  The record indicates Employee suffered pre-existing degenerative changes to his cervical spine before his injury.  (Ernest Meinhardt, M.D., July 30, 1982 chart note.)  After his injury, Employee consulted Dr. Risch.  He had previously seen Dr. Risch for another on-the-job injury.  Dr. Risch indicated Employee hit his head on a steam line and put his neck out of joint in 1965.  (Risch Physician’s Initial Injury Report June 30, 1965).


After the July 1982 injury Dr. Risch reported in his August 20, 1982 Physician's Report that Employee had spasms and limited range of thoraco-cervical motion.  He indicated the condition was work related, listing a date of injury of July 22, 1982.  


In his October 6, 1982 report, Sig Alpha, M.D., reported:   "[C]hiropractic manipulations, especially of the cervical spine is without long term merit or any scientific underpinnings."  Dr. Alpha suggested he try a home cervical traction device.  He said:  "I've asked him not continue with the manipulations until this regime proves nonefficacious."


On November 24, 1982 Dr. Risch reported to Defendants that Employee had a cervical sprain, moderate to severe, and had been seen a total of 28 times since August 18, 1982.  Although there are numerous billing statements from Dr. Risch for treatment thereafter, the record does not contain any medical reports from Dr. Risch indicating what condition he was treating.  


We find medical treatment in the first two years after the injury is compensable under AS 23.30.095(a) "for the nature of the injury."  We find Employee's testimony and Dr. Risch's reports raise the presumption that his  condition is compensable.  While Dr. Alpha reported that "manipulations of the cervical spine is without long term merit," he  did not comment on their short-term merit for the nature of the injury.  We find Defendants failed to overcome the presumption of compensability.  We find Employee is entitled to payment of certain charges by Dr. Risch.         


We find neither Dr. Risch nor Employee filed any reports after May 28, 1983.  We find Dr. Risch did not comply with AS 23.30.095 and 8 AAC 45.086.  We will deny Employee's request for payment of Dr. Risch's charges for any treatment after June 18, 1983 (20 days from May 28, 1983).  According to the billing statements in the record, Dr. Risch treated Employee 49 times between August 20, 1982 and June 18, 1983.  We find the charges total $1,274.00.  We shall order Defendants to pay this amount, less any charges of Dr. Risch's which they have already paid.  (See Benson January 7, 1983 letter; Appeal Record at 0008).


Employee requested mileage for his visits to Dr. Risch.  We find he is entitled to mileage at the rate of $.30 per mile.  See 8 AAC 45.084.  Employee's round trip from his home to Dr. Risch's office is six miles.  (Benson January 7, 1983 letter).  The mileage totals $88.20.    


Employee requested interest and additional compensation under AS 23.30.155(e).  Interest is due on unpaid compensation benefits. Land and Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1192 (Alaska 1984); AS 45.45.010.  The Alaska Supreme Court ruled that medical benefits are compensation for purposes of AS 23.30.155(e).  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).  We conclude interest is due for unpaid medical and travel expenses.  


Interest is simple, not compound.  In the Estate of Gregory, 487 P.2d 59, 63-64 (Alaska 1971).  Interest is computed at the rate of 10.5 percent per year.  AS 45.45.010.  In Castillo v. J.J. Welcome, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 860053 at 23 n.11, (February 25, (1986) we explained the formula for computing interest.
 We cannot compute the interest due on the medical and travel expenses awarded above because we do not know what credit, if any, Defendants are entitled to for payment of the expenses we have awarded.  Defendants shall pay interest on these benefits in accordance with Castillo and Bulletin 89-07.


We deny Employee's request for additional compensation under AS 23.30.155(e) on the unpaid medical benefits. We find Defendants validily controverted medical care on September 26, 1982 as not being work-related.


Employee also seeks payment of charges by other physicians who treated him after the 1982 injury.  We previously suspended Employee’s compensation as of July 30, 1986 because he refused to comply with reasonable medical treatment.   We have found Employee did not comply with reasonable medical treatment from July 30, 1986 to the present.


Under AS 23.30.095(a) and more than two years post-injury, we may authorize continued treatment as the process of recovery may require.  In our 1986 decision, we authorized treatment by Employee’s choice of neurologist.  However, we find Employee did not follow the neurologist’s recommendation.  We see no reason to require Defendants to pay for other types of medical care when  Employee is refusing to comply with our order and cooperate with reasonable medical care.  We will deny Employee’s request for medical care which he received after July 30, 1986.     


Employee contends that his treatment for his digestive problems are work related and compensable.  Because the medical care for the digestive problems was provided after July 30, 1986, we do not reach the issue of whether the condition is work-related.  We will deny Employee’s request for the reasons stated above.

III.  DID DEFENDANTS CORRECTLY REDUCE EMPLOYEE’S TTD BENEFITS? 



At the time of their payment as a result of the Board’s 1991 decision, Defendants reduced Employee's TTD benefits because he was receiving SSA benefits. Under AS 23.30.225(b), an injured worker who is receiving both workers' compensation and SSA benefits may have his benefits reduced as follows:


When it is determined that, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. 401 - 433, periodic disability benefits are payable to an employee . . . for an injury for which a claim has been filed under this chapter, weekly disability benefits payable under this chapter shall be offset by an amount by which the sum of (1) weekly benefits to which the employee is entitled under 42 U.S.C. 401 - 433, and (2) weekly disability benefits to which the employee would otherwise be entitled under this chapter, exceeds 80 per cent of the employee's average weekly wages at the time of injury. 


We have long held that before an employer reduces benefits under subsection 225(b), the law requires our determination that an injured worker is receiving SSA benefits for the injury for which a claim has been filed.  See Stanley v. Wright-Schuchart-Harbor, AWCB Decision No. 83-0039 (February 27, 1982); aff'd 3AN-82-2170 (Alaska Super Ct., May 10, 1983); Phillips v. Houston Contracting, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 84-0349 (October 24, 1984); aff'd and rev'd on other grounds Houston Contracting, Inc. v. Phillips, 812 P.2d 598 (Alaska 1992); Henry v. Enserch Alaska Construction, AWCB Decision No. 90-0059 (March 30, 1987).
  


In this case we find it is especially important that we determine if SSA benefits are paid for the compensable condition.  Defendants allege Employee suffers from a multitude of medical conditions, none of which are compensable.  It is possible the SSA benefits were paid as a result of a non-compensable condition, rather than his industrial injury.  


In their February 1991 Compensation Report, Defendants stated: "Petition for S.S. [social security offset] forthcoming."  We find no petition in the record, nor are we able to locate our findings making the required determinations under AS 23.30.225(b).  Furthermore, we find no evidence regarding the reason Employee received SSA benefits until the parties’ April 17, 1995, Stipulation of Facts was filed.  The parties stipulated Employee received SSA benefits for the injury for which he has filed a claim. 


Based on the parties' stipulation, we conclude Defendants are entitled to the offset under AS 23.30.225(b) if Employee's combined benefits exceed 80 per cent of his AWW.  Based on the parties' stipulation, we find Employee's initial SSA benefit was $602.50 per month, or $139.05 per week ($602.50 times 12 months equals $7,230.00 divided by 52 weeks).  We find Defendants incorrectly computed the SSA weekly benefits to be $143.95. (February 8, 1991 Compensation Report.)  


Using the AWW of $505.98 and multiplying by 80 percent, we find the maximum combined benefit allowed is $404.78.  Adding his workers’ compensation benefits of $337.32 to his SSA benefits of $139.05, we find the combined benefits equal $476.37.  This is $71.59 more than allowed under subsection 225(b).  Accordingly, his weekly TTD rate should be $265.73.  However, Defendants paid only $260.83, or $4.90 less per week than was due.  We find Defendants underpaid Employee by $4.90 per week for a period of 173 weeks and 4 days.  Employee is due an adjustment of $850.50. 


According to the February 8, 1991, Compensation Report, Defendants paid Employee TTD benefits from January 7, 1983 to July 30, 1986 at the weekly rate of $260.83.  The February 8, 1991 Compensation Report states the period between January 7, 1983 and July 30, 1986 is 173 weeks and four days.  We find this period is actually 186 weeks.  However, the Board authorized offsetting 91 days, or 13 weeks, of benefits because of delays caused by Employee.  We find Defendants overpaid Employee by three days of benefits, or a total of $111.78.  We deduct this overpayment from the $850.50 underpayment discussed above.  The net result is we will award Employee $743.72 for the miscalculation of the offset for SSA benefits.


Because Employee was underpaid and is entitled to an adjustment, he is also due interest at the annual rate of 10.5 percent. We compute the interest due to the date of record closure, September 13, 1995.  For the $4.90 per week underpayment, both the "graduated" interest formula and the "total amount" interest formulas apply.  We first compute the interest for the two-week installments due between January 7, 1983 and July 30, 1986 (less 13 weeks) using the "graduated" formula.  We multiply the rate of 10.5 percent times the payment amount for each two-week installment, and divide this amount by 26 (for the number of payment periods in a year's time).  (.105 times $9.80 equals $1.03 divided by 26 equals $.04)  The result is multiplied by the second part of the formula (described in 5a. in Bulletin 89-07) which uses the  number of late installments ($.04 times (87(87+1 divided by 2).)  The interest due to the date of record closure is $153.12.  


We next compute the interest on the total underpayment of $743.72 for the period from July 30, 1986 to September 13, 1995.  This is a period of 470 weeks, or 3,290 days.  We use the "total amount" formula.  We multiply the number of days by the 10.5 percent interest rate times the total compensation due ($743.72), and divide the result by 365.  (3,290 times .105 times $743.72 divided by 365 equals $703.89.)  We add this to the interest computed using the "graduated" formula, $153.12, for a total interest due of $857.01.  Of course, interest continues to accrue until Defendants pay Employee.


Employee requested a "penalty" under AS 23.30.155.  We find Defendants underpaid the TTD benefits due under our February 1, 1991 decision and order.  We will award the additional compensation of 20 percent provided under former AS 23.30.155(f) on the amount due of $743.72.  This additional compensation equals $148.74 ($743.72 times .20). 


To the extent that Employee requested additional compensation under either AS 23.30.155(e) or AS 23.30.155(f) on the difference between the full TTD rate and the rate paid by Defendants, we deny and dismiss the claim.  Because we determined Defendants are entitled to an offset, full TTD compensation is not due. 


Employee seeks interest on the additional compensation awarded under AS 23.30.155(f).  Defendants contend the additional compensation is a "penalty," and the Supreme Court has repeatedly disapproved awards of interest on punitive or liquidated-type damages.  


Without any discussion, the Board's southern panel has awarded interest on the additional compensation assessed under subsection 155(e).  Boling v. Campbell-Hogue & Assoc., AWCB Decision No. 90-0258 (October 29, 1990).  In Childs, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191-1192 (Alaska 1993), the court referred to the additional compensation under subsection 155(e) as a "penalty," although that is not how the legislature chose to characterize this compensation.


We note that under AS 23.30.155(f), the legislature specifically stated that the additional amount "shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the compensation” due under the award.  Thus the additional amount for late payment of compensation does not require a board determination, and is due before Employee obtains an order ("judgement") from us.  In discussing the rationale for awarding interest, the court has repeatedly said: "[A] workers' compensation award, or any part thereof, shall accrue lawful interest . . . on money after it is due, from the date it should have been paid."  Rawls; Green v. Kake Tribal Corp, 816 P.2d 1363 (Alaska 1991); Houston Contracting, Inc. v. Phillips, 812 P.2d 598, 602 (Alaska 1991).  The court has also repeatedly stressed both the incentive aspect of interest, as well as the time value of money. Moretz; Rawls.  


Given these principles, we conclude it is appropriate to assess interest on the additional compensation due under 155(f).  There is little incentive, as evidenced by the facts of this case, for Defendants to review a payment.  Employee has long contested the payment, but Defendants have never bothered to recompute the payment amount to see if it was correct.  We conclude Defendants must pay interest on the additional compensation applying the "total amount" formula explained above.  

IV.  WHAT IS EMPLOYEE’S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE?


At the time of Employee's injury, former AS 23.30.220 provided:


Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the average weekly wage of the injured employee at the time of the injury is the basis for computing compensation, and is determined as follows:



(1)  Repealed by § 11 ch 75 SLA 1977.




(2)  the average weekly wage is that most favorable to the employee calculated by dividing 52 into the total wages earned, including self-employment, in any one of the three calendar years immediately preceding the injury; . . . .


The parties agreed in their April 17, 1995 Stipulation of Facts that Employee's 1981 earnings are used to compute his AWW.


Under former AS 23.30.265(20), "wages" were defined as:


"[W]ages mean the money rate at which the service rendered is recompensed under the contract of hiring in force at the time of the injury, and includes the reasonable value of board, rent, housing, lodging or other similar advantage received from the employer, and gratuities received in the course of employment from others than the employer;


Employee contends that his 1981 earnings should include the $3,974.00 he received as unemployment compensation.  Defendants contend that unemployment benefits are not wages, and should not be included in computing his average weekly wage.


In Rock v. Wilder Construction Co., Inc., AWCB Decision No. 84-0353 (October 30, 1984), we concluded that unemployment benefits were not wages.  We stated in Rock at 3:


  
We distinguish unemployment benefits from vested union benefits.  The employer does not pay unemployment benefits, the State of Alaska does.  These benefits are not part of the contract between employee's union and employer.  Employee has no vested right to these benefits.



As defendants point out, unemployment benefits are in the nature of a wage substitute created by the legislature in an effort to alleviate the financial hardships resulting from lack of employment.  Although both employee and employer contribute to the state unemployment system, the state also funds the system and, it is the state, not the employer, which administers its benefits. 


Based on the specific language of former AS 23.30.265(20), the Board held:


Considering the nature of the unemployment benefits, we find they are not part of the "money rate for which the service rendered is recompensed under the contract of hiring in force at the time of the injury."  These benefits exist and are administered independently of any contract between employee or the union and employer, and are outside the control of employee, the union, or employer.  They do not recompense for service rendered but rather help to compensate for unemployment.  They are not a "similar advantage received from the employer," as they are received from the state.  As eligibility for these benefits is controlled by the state, they are certainly not "gratuities," nor are they received in the course of employment.


Based on the analysis in Rock, we conclude the unemployment benefits are not included in calculating Employee's AWW.


Employee also asks that we consider the value of employer-provided room and board received in 1981 in calculating his AWW.  Under AS 23.30.265(20) the term "wages" includes "the reasonable value of board, rent, housing, lodging or similar advantage received from the employer."  Defendants contend the employer-provided room was a convenience to Employer, not an advantage to Employee.  Defendants contend Employee maintained his own home while residing at the employer-provided remote site camp, so there was no advantage to him.  Defendants cite some Board decisions from 1984 to 1988 and 2 A. Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law § 60.12(a) at 10-648 and 10-655 in support of their position.


In Hodges v. Alaska Constructors, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 90-9083 (April 25, 1990), the Board denied the employee's request to adjust his AWW to reflect room and board because it did not provide a "measurable value to the employee."  On appeal, the superior court reversed the Board's decision stating the Board's analysis involves a two step process not directly expressed by the statute's language.  That is, the AWCB first required a finding that the employee realized an economic gain from the employer supplied room and board before going to the second step of determining the reasonable value of the room and board.  The AWCB relied upon Larson's treatise, Workers' Compensation 60.12(a) to interpret AS 23.30.265(20).  While it is true that in the absence of a statutory definition of wages other jurisdictions have applied the economic gain test the AWCB cited no authority which applies the economic gain test to a statute which defines wages as does AS 23.30.265(20).


The superior court considered the federal government's Longshore and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act upon which the Act is based.  Ragland, 724 P.2d 519 (Alaska 1986). The court concluded the legislature's use of the word "benefit" did not intend to establish an economic gain test.  Instead the court concluded "room, board, lodging provided by an employer are an employee's employment benefits whether or not they constitute economic gain to the employee; they constitute a benefit because they are bargained for conditions of employment.” Hodges at 10.  We find this reasoning persuasive, and conclude Employee's AWW includes the reasonable value of the room and board by his 1981 employer.


Defendants objected to the letters filed by Employee, regarding the value of the employer-provided room and board, unless they had an opportunity to cross-examine the authors.  In  our efforts to conclude the hearing, we overlooked their request and neglected to explain to Employee that he needed to make the authors available for cross-examination.


In order to give Employee an opportunity to provide the necessary evidence from which the value of room and board can be determined, the designated chairman will schedule a conference with the parties to explain to Employee how to make the authors  available for cross-examination.
   Alternately, the parties may agree upon the value of the employer-provided room and board for the 31 days in 1981.  A stipulation may be submitted, and the Defendants may adjust the rate based on the stipulation without further action by us.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve related disputes. 


Employee also seeks an adjustment for certain union fringe benefits he received as a result of his employment, specifically the training trust fund contributions, the contact administrator's fund contributions, and the industry promotion fund contributions.  Employee testified these fund provided a benefit to him.  Even after becoming a journeyman, he received further training through his union.  He provided information regarding the benefits he received for the contributions to the other two funds.

   In 1987, after the Alaska Supreme Court's ruling in Ragland, Defendants voluntarily adjusted Employee's AWW to include some contributions to funds established pursuant to collective bargaining agreements.  However, they argue the contributions to the funds listed above should not be included because these funds did provide an economic benefit to Employee.  Defendants emphasize that portion of Ragland at 522 which describes wages as being measurable “as an economic gain,”  while ignoring that portion of the quote which says wages may be measured in cash. 


In Hodges, the Board used a rationale similar to that argued by Defendants and denied an adjustment in Hodges' AWW for the employers’ contribution to the union training fund.  On appeal the superior court reversed the Board's decision.  The court quoted from Ragland at 520:  "[T]he readily identifiable and calculable value of fringe benefits should be included in the wage determination."  The court concluded that the training fund contributions are readily identifiable and calculable.  


Another superior court judge applied Ragland and reversed a Board decision to deny inclusion in the AWW of employer-provided health insurance and profit-sharing.  The court ruled these benefits must be included in the AWW because they were readily identifiable and calculable. Strait v. Carr Payless, 3AN 88-9067 Civil (October 12, 1989).  (These fringe benefits were included in AWW calculation even though the injured worker was a non-union, non-contract worker.)


Including the training trust fund contribution in the AWW is consistent with the southcentral panel's ruling in Horvath v. Anglo Energy, Ltd., AWCB No. 87-0184 (August 12, 1987); aff'd Anglo Energy Ltd. v. Horvath, 3AN 87-332Ci (March 3, 1988).  In Horvath we acknowledged the confusion caused by the Supreme Court quote from Leslie v. Reynold, 295 P.2d 1076, 1083 (Kan. 1956) in Ragland, at 523, that wages should "include all items of compensation or advantage agreed upon in a contract of hiring which are measurable in money, whether in the form of cash or as an economic gain to the employee."  In Horvath we concluded the court's statement in Ragland that "the total hourly wage, no matter how it is apportioned between cash payments and fringe benefits is `the money rate at which the service rendered is recompensed',"  724 P.2d at 521, was controlling.


We find Employee's AWW must include the contributions to the training funds.  Accordingly, Employee’s AWW is increased by an additional $5.15 and his weekly TTD compensation rate is increased  by $3.43 per week.  This is calculated as follows: 333.8 hours multiplied by $.35 equals $116.83; 539.5 hours multiplied by  $.28 equals $151.06; $151.06 plus $116.83 equals $267.89 divided by 52 weeks equals $5.15.  Under former AS 23.30.185, TTD was paid at 66 2/3 percent of the employee’s AWW; $5.15 multiplied by 66 2/3 percent equals $3.43 per week increase.   


Employee also requests that the contribution to the industry promotion fund under the Anchorage Plumbers’ union contract and the contract administration fund under the Fairbanks Plumbers’ union contract be included in his AWW.  The industry promotion contribution was $.05 per hour worked, and the contract administration fund contribution was $.15 per hour worked. 


 Defendants presented the testimony of Michael Cooper. He testified the contributions to the industry promotion fund and the contract administration fund were not part of the total hourly wage.  He testified there is a difference between a fringe benefit and a fund contribution:


Q.  Is there a difference between  -- what is the difference between a fringe benefit and a fund contribution, is there a difference?


A.  The fringe benefits are paid, the pension, health and welfare and -- are fringe benefits, and they have to be paid to employ the union member.  The contract administration fund does not have to be paid by any company that does not want to pay it.

(Cooper Dep. at 9 - 10.)


Regarding the industry promotion fund, Cooper testified:


A.  [T]he industry promotion fund is administered by the contractors only, the benefit amount is negotiated and voted on by the union and the contractors and is collected through the labor agreement between the contractors and the union, it is something that would not have to be voted on by the union.  We -- they do, but it's basically the contract and then we add a nickel an hour on to it.


It historically has been in the package when they voted on the total package, but it's just added on at the end of the negotiations.


Q.  Okay.  So the union would participate in determining what the compensation rate was going to be and maybe the fringe benefits, health and welfare and that kind of benefit?


A.  Correct.


Q.  And then your association would just tack on the extra five cents?


A.  Right, since we're paying it to ourselves. 


Copies of the two contracts between the union and the 1981  employers are in the record.  Article XVII of the contract governing work out of the Fairbanks union states: “Each employer shall pay fifteen (15) cents per man hour worked to the Mechanical Contractors Administration Fund.”  This same language is also used  for the contributions to the Health and Welfare Fund, the Pension Fund, and the other funds (of course, the name of each fund is different, but the rest of the language remains the same.) (1980 - 1982 Plumbers & Pipefitters Labor Agreement at 15.)   Article XIII of the contract governing work out of the Anchorage union stated:  "The following hourly rates shall apply to work performed by the employee on all work covered by this Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 1980 to June 30, 1983, reopening on July 1, 1982 for wages and fringes only."  The Agreement then lists the contribution to the Industry Promotion Fund at $.05 per hour, along with all the contribution rates to the other fringe benefit funds.  (Alaska Pipe Trades Agreement at 42.) 


We find Cooper's testimony conflicts with the written contracts.  We find the written contracts are the best evidence of the parties’ agreements, and govern the parties’ actions.  We find the contracts, not Cooper’s testimony, reflects the bargain reached by the employers and the employees.  In the contracts, the contribution are not designated as voluntary; they appear to result from a total hourly wage rate negotiated by the union and the employer.  The written contracts do not make the type of distinctions about which Cooper testified.  We find the contributions to the industry promotion fund and the contract administration fund are all part of the total hourly rate paid by the employer for each hour worked by a union member.  Given the above discussion regarding Ragland, we conclude these fringe benefits must be included in calculating Employee's AWW.


Defendants shall adjust Employee's AWW accordingly.  Employee’s AWW increases as follows: 539.5 hours multiplied by $.05 equals $26.98; 333.8 hours multiplied by $.15 equals $50.07; $50.07 plus $26.98 equals $77.05 divided by 52 equals $1.48 per week increase. $1.48 multiplied by 66 2/3 percent equals $.99 increased weekly TTD compensation rate. 


This sum is added to the $5.15 awarded above for a total adjustment of $6.63 in the AWW.  Employee’s AWW is increased from $505.98 to $512.61.  His weekly TTD compensation rate is increased  to $341.76, an increase of $4.42 per week. 


Employee was paid TTD benefits from July 23, 1982 to July 30, 1986.  For the period of July 23, 1982 through January 6, 1983, he is due benefits without an offset for SSA benefits.  The adjustment due for this 24-week period equals $106.08.  For the period from January 7, 1983 through July 30, 1986, his TTD benefits were reduced because he received SSA benefits.  He would be entitled to combined benefits of $410.09 ($512.61 multiplied by 80 percent).  Adding the weekly TTD benefits of $341.76 and $139.05 weekly SSA benefits provides combined benefits of $480.81.  This sum exceeds the maximum allowable by $70.72.  Subtracting $70.72 from $341.76 equals an adjusted TTD rate of $271.04.  


We previously adjusted Employee’s TTD benefits under subsection 225(b) to $265.73.  We find he is  due an additional $5.31 for the 173 weeks and 4 days, or a total of $921.66.  Added to the adjustment for the period of July 23, 1982 to January 7, 1983, we find the total due for the fringe benefits and room and board adjustments is $1,027.74 ($106.08 plus $921.66).  In addition, we will award interest on the adjustment. 


Employee also requests additional compensation under AS 23.30.155(e).  We find Defendants initially controverted a Ragland adjustment because Employee had not provided the information from which they could determine if the adjustment was due.  Later they withdrew the controversion and paid benefits under Ragland, but they refused to pay the adjustment we have awarded.  We find no controversion for this adjustment.  We find Defendants had the information necessary to compute the adjustment.  We find no condition beyond Defendants' control which prevented them from making the adjustment.  We conclude additional compensation of 20 percent is due.  We will award $205.55 for Defendants' failure to controvert or pay the adjustment.  Based on the discussion above, we also award interest on this additional compensation.

V.  IS EMPLOYEE DUE INTEREST ON THE FEBRUARY 8, 1991 PAYMENT?


On February 8, 1991 Defendants paid Employee TTD benefits for the period of January 7, 1983 through July 30, 1986.  At the weekly rate of $260.83, the payment totaled $45,272.63.  At the same time Defendants paid interest of $29,605.52.  Employee contends this is not the correct amount of interest.  We have recomputed the interest according to the instructions in Bulletin 89-07 of the Workers’ Compensation Manual.  Although we found Defendants incorrectly computed the compensation due, we find they correctly computed the interest on the amount paid. 


It appears Employee seeks interest on interest.  If that is so, we deny that claim.  Interest cannot be awarded on statutory interest.  State v. Doyle, 735 P.2d 733, 741-742 (Alaska 1987).

VI.  IS A PENALTY DO FOR “DECISIONAL DELAY?”


Employee requests a penalty for "unreasonable decisional delay."  He cites no statutory basis to support this request, and we are unaware of any basis.  We will deny and dismiss Employee's request.

VII.  IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES?


Employee has requested attorney's fees.  Defendants contend they paid the fees due as a result of the February 1, 1991 Board order.  William Erwin represented Employee at the time of the hearing which resulted in the February 1, 1991 order.  (Metcalf II at 1).  The Board ordered Defendants to pay the statutory minimum attorney’s fee under AS 23.30.145(a) based on the total compensation awarded.  (Id. at 8).


Defendants' February 8, 1991 Compensation Report does not reflect the payment of attorney's fees.  However, Defendants filed a December 18, 1994 affidavit from Marlene Sjoberg, the adjuster for Employee's claim in December 1994, stating William Erwin had been paid attorney's fees in the amount of $7,637.81.  We find this is the minimum statutory fee based on the amount paid by Defendants ($74,878.15) on February 8, 1991.


We find none of the attorneys who represented Employee before or after the December 1990 hearing have filed a request for attorney's fees from Defendants.  We find Erwin is the attorney who represented Employee at the time benefits were awarded.
  We find no other attorney has made a claim for attorney's fees, nor is any other attorney entitled to fees from Defendants for the services performed.  


To the extent Employee is seeking an attorney's fee for the work he has performed before us, his request will be denied and dismissed.  A person who is not an attorney who represents himself/herself, is not entitled to an award of attorney's fees.  8 AAC 45.180(b); See Alaska Federal Savings & Loan Assoc v. Bernhardt, 794 P.2d 579 (Alaska 1990); Woodburn v. Arctic Broadcasting Assoc., AWCB Decision No. 92-0085 (April 7, 1992).  


The file reflects repeated requests for payment of legal costs Employee incurred in pursuing his claim.  Some of these appear to be costs he paid to various attorneys for such things as copies of depositions and for filing appeals.  Some of them appear to be compensable.  Given Employee's lack of sophistication, perhaps what he is seeking is repayment of legal costs.  The record does not reflect the Defendants' payment of Employee's legal costs.  


We direct Defendants to file with us and serve a copy upon Employee within 30 days of the filing of this order an affidavit reflecting the legal costs they have paid to Employee or his attorneys.  If Employee determines there are legal costs which he believes are due which have not been paid, he may file an affidavit of readiness for hearing when he is ready to proceed with his request to recover those costs.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve related disputes.


ORDER

1.
Employee's claim for permanent total disability benefits is denied and dismissed.


2.
Defendants shall pay Employee $1,274.00 for Dr. Risch's treatments and $88.20 for expenses to travel to Dr. Risch's office, with credit for previous payments of these benefits.


3.
Defendants shall pay interest on the payments made under order number 2 above.


4.
Employee's request for additional compensation under AS 23.30.155(e) on the payment made under order numbers 2 and 3 above is denied and dismissed.


5.
Employee's request for payment of medical expenses after July 30, 1986 is denied and dismissed.


6.
Under AS 23.30.225(b) Defendants may reduce Employee's temporary total disability benefits for the period previously paid between January 7, 1983 and July 30, 1986.  We approve future reductions so long as Employee continues to receive disability benefits from the Social Security Administration. 


7.
Defendants shall pay Employee $743.72 for benefits due under the Board's February 8, 1991 decision and order, plus interest thereon at the rate of 10.5 percent per annum.


8.
Defendants shall pay Employee additional compensation under AS 23.30.155(f) of $148.74 on the benefits awarded in number 7 above, plus interest on the $148.74.


9.
Employee's request for any other additional compensation under either AS 23.30.155(e) or AS 23.30.155(f) on the benefits Defendants paid February 8, 1991, is denied and dismissed.


10.
Employee's average weekly wage is increased to $512.61.  Defendants shall pay Employee $1,027.74 for the increased temporary total disability benefits due for the period of July 22, 1982 through July 30, 1986 which results from the increase in the average weekly wage.  Defendants shall pay interest on the $1,207.74.


11.
Defendants shall pay additional compensation of $205.55 under AS 23.30.155(e) on the adjustment awarded in order number 10 above, plus interest thereon.  


12.
Employee is entitled to an adjustment in his average weekly wage for the room and board provided by his 1981 employers.  The designated chairman will schedule a conference to discuss Employee's arrangements to permit cross-examination of the authors of letters relating to his request for room and board.  We retain jurisdiction over this issue.


13.
Employee's request for attorney's fees is denied and dismissed.


14.
In accordance with this decision, Defendants shall file an affidavit of legal costs paid to Employee or his attorneys.  We retain jurisdiction to award legal costs.


15.
Any other claims by Employee for interest or additional compensation under either AS 23.30.155(e) or As 23.30.155(f) on the benefits either awarded by previous Board order or benefits awarded herein are denied and dismissed.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 29th day of September, 1995.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



 /s/ Rebecca Ostrom           




Rebecca Ostrom, 



Designated Chairman



 /s/ Patricia Vollendorf      


Patricia Vollendorf, Member

Board Member Hagedorn, concurring and dissenting in part:


I agree with the majority's opinion with the exception of two issues, awarding interest on the penalty and including the fringe benefits in the AWW.


I find the money awarded under either AS 23.30.155(e) or (f) is a penalty.  For the reasons stated in Defendants' brief, I find interest is not due on a penalty.  Employee receives interest on the payment for the underpaid TTD benefits.  This interest, at 10.5 percent, more than adequately compensates Employee for the time value of the money.  Assessing interest on the penalty is excessive; it provides a windfall which is inconsistent with the purposes of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act.


Regarding the AWW determination, I agree with the majority that the contribution to the training trust fund should be included in the AWW calculation.  However, I disagree with the majority's reason for doing so.  I believe Ragland requires a finding of an economic gain to the employee in order to include the contribution to a union trust fund in the AWW calculation.


I find the training trust fund provided an economic gain to Employee.  Employee testified he participated in training after becoming a journeyman.   Defendants presented the testimony of Michael Cooper who verified that journeyman can get additional training through the union's training fund.  Cooper testified the training would not increase a journeyman's hourly rate of pay, but would make the journeyman more employable.  (Cooper Dep. at 12).  Based on the testimony of Cooper and Employee, I find the contributions to the union's training trust fund were an economic benefit to Employee.


Based on the testimony of Michael Cooper, I find the contributions to the industry promotion fund and the contract administration fund did not provide an economic gain to Employee.  Cooper testified the purpose of these funds is to provide for the needs of the employer/contractor association.  The funds are used for costs incurred by the negotiating committees and to pay the costs for staff to attend meetings relating to the health and welfare and pension trust funds.  The individual union member does not benefit from the fund.  (Cooper dep. at 8 - 9).  Accordingly, under Ragland I conclude the contributions to these union trust funds should not be included in setting Employee's AWW.



 /s/ S.T. Hagedorn           


S.T. Hagedorn, Member
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     �The deleted paragraphs state:


			Mr. Metcalf and I have discussed medications on several occasions.  It has been my belief that these are an elective form of treatment and not mandatory.  I do believe, however, that medication offers a significant chance of benefit.  This chance of benefit includes improvement in his performance, level of functioning, reduction of the amount of time spent asleep, as well as a reduction in his discomfort and an increase in his tolerance.  The benefits of this medication, therefore, I believe, outweigh its risks which are minimal for significant injury. . . . 


			Dr. Cates' quotation I will leave to Dr. Cates and Mr. Metcalf.  In general the potential for good from the medications I was proposing is far, far greater than the potential for harm. 


     �Employee may have a claim for permanent partial disability (PPD) benefits, but the issue was not raised or addressed by the parties.  Accordingly, we do not decide whether he might be entitled to PPD benefits.  Given his failure to comply with the Board’s July 1986 order, even if he is  entitled to PPD benefits his action may preclude payment.  


     �The Alaska Workers' Compensation Division issued Bulletin No. 89-07 (November 12, 1989) which more fully describes the methods for calculating interest.  We adopt and apply that information as well in this case.


     �To assist employer/insurers and based on our decisions, the Workers' Compensation Division's staff provided instructions listing the information necessary in order to request and receive approval of an offset under subsection 225(b).  Workers' Compensation Manual at 46 - 50 (1982).


     �In view of the Board’s ruling in Metcalf v. Felec Services, Inc., AWCB Decision NO. 92-0124 (May 20, 1992), the authors’ testimony will have to be taken orally, either by deposition or at  another hearing; their testimony cannot be given in writing.


     �The December 1990 hearing resulted from the Employee's successful representation of himself before the Alaska Supreme Court.





